An introduction to the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis

A. Robin Poole

Joint Diseases Laboratory, Shriners Hospitals for Children and Division of Surgical Research, Department of Surgery, McGill University 1529 Cedar Avenue, Montreal, Quebec H3G 1A6 Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. General changes in bone and cartilage in osteoarthritis

3.1. Bone

3.2. Cartilage

- 4. General molecular changes in cartilage matrix and alterations in gene expression
 - 4.1. Cartilage Degradation
 - 4.2. Cartilage synthesis and changes in matrix structure
- 5. Regulation and mechanisms of cartilage matrix turnover.
- 6. Inflammation
- 7. Changes in molecular markers in body fluids reflect skeletal change and inflammation
- 8. Concluding remarks
- 9. Acknowledgements

10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Osteoarthritis involves the degeneration of articular cartilage together with changes in subchondral bone and limited intra-articular inflammation. In this chapter these changes are reviewed at the tissue, cell and molecular levels to reveal the complexity of a process which involves multiple changes in joint structure and turnover.

2. INTRODUCTION

Osteoarthritis (OA) represents a clinical classification of pathological conditions involving a progressive degeneration of articular cartilage, a remodelling of sub-chondral bone and a synovitis which is usually limited.

The condition is variously described as a part of a process of age-related change or a disease. It is twice as prevalent in women than men and increases in incidence with age, there being a major rise after 60 years (1). It is believed that the changes that lead to the development of OA are slow (insidious). That in idiopathic OA clinical presentation may result from changes over 15-20 years. The disease may involve primarily one or two large joints or may be generalized. Following joint trauma there is an increased incidence of OA (1) which probably results from accelerated degeneration over a period of about 10-15 years. In contrast, familial OA presents very early, often following cessation of growth, as a consequence of alterations in cartilage matrix structure which leads to the manifestation of joint degeneration following the cessation

of growth. An example is provided by patients with a mutation in the type II collagen gene (2).

3. GENERAL CHANGES IN BONE AND CARTILAGE IN OSTEOARTHRITIS

3.1. Bone

OA involves not only the degeneration of articular cartilage leading to eburnation of bone but also a synovitis that is usually limited. There is extensive remodelling of sub-chondral bone resulting in the so-called sclerosis of this tissue observed radiographically. These bone changes are often accompanied by the formation of sub-chondral cysts as a result of focal resorption. These are particularly noticeable by magnetic resonance imaging (see below).

The bone changes may also be systemic in nature. The work of Dequeker and his colleagues (3) has produced evidence of changes in bone metabolism in sites such as the iliac crest which are suggestive of systematic changes. Analyses of the molecular composition of OA bone have provided indications of fundamental changes in bone metabolism (4). Deoxypyridinoline cross-links, resulting from bone resorption, are elevated in urine (5) as is osteocalcin elevated in serum (6).

There is evidence from scintigraphy to indicate that changes in bone metabolism are identifiable several years prior to evidence for clinical onset of the disease (7-9). Whether these changes precede those in cartilage

remains to be determined once comparable analyses can be made of metabolic changes in cartilage metabolism.

The dynamic interplay between bone and cartilage is reflected in how changes in one tissue may influence the other and thus determine the development of OA. Bone cells from OA patients can alter chondrocyte metabolism (10). This is most strikingly observed in osteoporosis, where bone density is reduced by excessive osteoclastic resorption of bone. Patients with osteoporosis usually show little or no evidence of OA. Moreover, patients with OA do not usually develop osteoporosis (11-13). These observations may be explainable in part at the level of biomechanical interactions, indicating that reduced bone density may protect against degeneration leading to OA.

A principle anatomical feature of OA is the development of osteophytes. The osteophytes, which have a cap of articular cartilage, and an actively remodelling bone base, may serve to reintroduce some stability into an otherwise unstable joint.

These form from an endochondral process in sites at the edges of the damaged articular cartilage. Addition to periosteum in culture or injection <u>in vivo</u> of transforming growth factor-beta results in expression of the hypertrophic phenotype by newly formed chondrocytes in periosteal tissue and subsequent mineralization of extracellular matrix (14, 15). This is an essential requirement for endochondral ossification. Intra-articular injection of TGF-beta₁ induces osteophyte formation (16). Thus TGF-beta, and probably other bone morphogenetic proteins, may play an important role in osteophyte formation. These bone morphogenetic proteins are also excessively produced in joint inflammation.

3.2 Cartilage

The classic loss of articular cartilage observed in OA may be initiated as a focal process as is observed, for example, in early experimentally induced OA in rabbits following section of the anterior cruciate ligament and/or Focal lesions may partial medial meniscectomy. progressively enlarge to involve specific joint compartments, inducing alterations in articulating surfaces by producing changes in loading. Degenerative changes may involve the whole articular cartilage in post-traumatic OA where alterations in cartilage matrix turnover are detectable within days or weeks following joint injury such as damage to the anterior cruciate ligament or meniscus (17).

In idiopathic OA, degeneration is first observed at the articular surface in the form of fibrillation. This initially involves splits more or less parallel to the articular surface. Later splits penetrate the damaged more superficial cartilage. Cell cloning is observed early on but again is confined to more superficial sites. Progressive loss of cartilage then occurs. Apoptosis is enhanced in OA, particularly at and close to the articular surface (18, 19).

These degenerative changes ordinarily represent a very slow process which may take as long as 15-20 years.

But it is accelerated in cases of joint injury and inflammation (synovitis) or it may present clinically on cessation of growth as in familial OA. For reasons that remain unresolved degeneration is often more pronounced in the tibial cartilage particularly in the medialcompartment. This is observed in human and experimental studies of OA and also in experimental inflammatory (rheumatoid-like) arthritis (20).

4. GENERAL MOLECULAR CHANGES IN CARTILAGE MATRIX AND ALTERATIONS IN GENE EXPRESSION

4.1. Cartilage Degradation

Superficial fibrillation at and close to the articular surface is associated with increased denaturation and loss of type II collagen of collagen fibrils (21, 22). This leads to a loss of tensile properties, particularly in OA prone joints such as the hip (24) whose mechanical properties are determined by these fibrils (23-25). These tensile properties are normally much higher at the articular surface than elsewhere in the cartilage (23). It is here that they are first lost in OA development (23, 25). Damage to the fibrils leads to a loss of the small proteoglycans decorin and biglycan which are usually closely associated with the fibrils at the articular surface (26). In addition there is loss of the large proteoglycan aggrecan (22).

The loss of these molecules is associated with increased cleavage of type II collagen by collagenase (27) and aggrecan cleavage (28-30) and the degradation of small proteoglycans (30). This usually correlates with increased expression and content of various metalloproteinases (MMP) at the articular surface early in the degenerative process (20, 31). These include stromelysin-1 (MMP-3), gelatinases A (MMP-2), and B (MMP-9) and collagenases-1 (MMP-1), collagenase-2 (neutrophil collagenase or MMP-8), (32), collagenase-3 (MMP-13) (32-34) and MT1-MMP (membrane type 1- MMP or collagenase 4 or MMP-14) (35, 36). Matrilysin expression is also increased (37). These proteinases are very much involved in the excessive matrix degradation that characterizes cartilage degeneration in OA (20, 31). Activators of prometalloproteinases which are increased in OA include MT1-MMP which activates gelatinase A and collagenase-3 and gelatinase A which can superactivate collaenase-3 (38), stromelysin-1, which can superactivate collagenases (20), and plasminogen activator (39) that activates plasminogen to produce plasmin which is a general MMP activator (20). Also the cysteine proteinase cathepsin B is upregulated in OA (40, 41) and may be an important activator of MMPs (42).

4.2. Cartilage synthesis and changes in matrix structure.

The early damage to and loss of these molecules in OA is accompanied by an increased content of biglycan and decorin (26) and aggrecan (A.R. Poole, A. Reiner, unpublished) in the mid and deep zones presumably to compensate for the increased loading on the chondrocytes with the loss of the more superficial cartilage. There is also a marked increase in the synthesis of type II collagen in these sites (43), mainly type IIB as revealed by experimental studies (44) but also some type IIA (45), normally only observed prior to chondroblast differentiation early in development (46). There is induction of limited expressions and of synthesis of type III collagen (47). Type VI content is increased (48-50).

Aggrecan synthesis is upregulated (20, 30) and altered chondroitin sulfate structure is demonstrable by immunoassay or immunohistochemistry (29, 51, 52) in response to the increased damage. Larger aggrecan molecules appear with more advanced degeneration reflective of new synthesis (29). There is increased expression and synthesis of the proteoglycans versican, decorin, biglycan, fibromodulin and lumican as well as of link protein (53, 54). This synthetic increase is associated with an enhanced content of insulin growth factor-1 (55) which is a potent stimulant for aggrecan synthesis. This increased synthesis is seen in the same sites where degradation is enhanced.

There are many changes in the contents of other matrix molecules in OA. Cartilage oligomeric protein, is altered in distribution (56), contents of cartilage matrix protein (57), tenascin (58), osteonectin (59) and fibronectin (60) are all increased.

Ordinarily mature articular chondrocytes do not express type X collagen, which is normally synthesized by hypertrophic chondrocytes in the growth plate in association with cartilage matrix resorption. But in OA type X expression and synthesis occurs (61). This is observed in degenerate cartilage and in association with increased expression of the cell surface type II collagen receptor annexin V (62). These molecules are normally highly expressed by early hypertrophic chondrocytes. Parathyroid hormone related peptide, which is expressed by pre-hypertrophic cells in the growth plate and suppresses hypertrophy, is also upregulated in OA cartilage (63, 64). This expression of hypertrophy is accompanied by apoptosis, a feature of terminal hypertrophic cells (18, 19). These changes are observed in the more superficial and mid zones and may represent a chondrocyte response to a damaged extracellular matrix with the reversion to a more fetal phenotype.

5. REGULATION AND MECHANISMS OF CARTILAGE MATRIX TURNOVER

As damage to the cartilage progresses one can recognize increased denaturation (21, 22) and increased cleavage of type II collagen by collagenase (27). Denaturation is seen especially around chondrocytes but it extends into interterritorial sites remote from these cells, in OA, unlike what is seen in ageing. This clearly implicates the chondrocyte as a mediator of the damage to these molecules within the matrix which were synthesized by these same cells. Studies with an inhibitor that blocks the activities of collagenases, except collagenase-1, have revealed that collagenase cleavage of type II collagen in most human OA cartilages and mature bovine articular cartilages can be frequently inhibited in human cartilages (Dahlberg, L., Billinghurst, R.C., Manner, P., Nelson, F., Webb, G., Ionescu, M., Reiner, A., Tanzer, M., and Zukor, D., Chen, J., Van Wart, H.E., and Poole, A.R., submitted) and always in the case of bovine articular cartilages (Billinghurst, R.C., Ionescu, M., Reiner, A., Wu, W., Dahlberg, L., Chen, J., Van Wart, H., and Poole, A.R., submitted) implicating collagenases such as collagenase-3 in this process.

What is responsible for the increased synthesis and activation of these MMPs at the cellular level is still unclear. There is evidence that some fragments of fibronectin can stimulate chondrocyte-mediated cartilage resorption via cell surface receptor activation (65) just as in fibroblasts MMP-1 is upregulated through an RGD-integrin receptor activation (66). Since fibronectin is produced in increased amounts in OA cartilage (60) this activation of chondrocyte degradation by matrix degradation products may play an important role in establishing positive feedback generation of proteolysis. Such cellular responses involve the production of cytokines such as IL-1 which no doubt plays an autocrine/paracrine-role (67).

There is increased expression on OA chondrocytes of the receptors for interleukin-1 (68) and of IL-1 itself, even more than in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (69). Tumor necrosis factor alpha, is also upregulated in OA even more so than in RA (69) and the receptor for TNFalpha shows increased expression when compared to normal cartilage (70). The presence of the TNFalpha p55 receptor (but not the p75) on OA chondrocytes correlates with the susceptibility of cartilage explants to TNF α -induced proteoglycan loss (70).

IL-1 and TNFalpha are both potent activators of cartilage degradation *in vitro* (20, 31). In combination with oncostatin M, IL-1 is even more potent in causing cartilage resorption but levels of this cytokine, a member of the IL-6 family, are not usually elevated in OA SF (71). Thus oncostatin may be of more importance when synovitis is more pronounced in the OA joint. Other cytokines that are upregulated in OA include macrophage inflammatory protein-1beta (72).

Nitric oxide (NO) synthase (iNOS) is upregulated in OA chondrocytes compared to normal (73) and to RA cartilage (69). This is associated with increased generation of NO. II-1 and TNFalpha are potent stimulators of NO production in cartilage (74). The expression of iNOS with TNFalpha and IL-1beta is correlated in chondrocytes from arthritis patients (69). NO inhibits aggrecan synthesis, when induced by IL-1 (75). However, protease activity and proteoglycan degradation are enhanced when NO production is blocked (76). Thus it may also play a protective role. NO can also induce apoptosis in chondrocytes (77) and this may account, in part, for the increased apoptosis seen in OA.

Changes in extracellular matrix (ECM) loading can also induce ECM cleavage as well as changing the synthesis of ECM macromolecules (31). The pathological changes in cartilage ECM in OA are likely to result in a disturbance of the normal balance between mechanical loading and direct cytokine/growth factor signalling changing gene expression. Analyses of the proteoglycan aggrecan have revealed that excessive cleavage occurs in OA cartilage in the core protein, particularly in the interglobular domain between the G1 and G2 domains. There are two principle sites of cleavage, the MMP site where multiple MMPs including stromelysin-1 can cleave, and the aggrecanase site where cleavage can also be produced by a number of proteinases (20), including membrane proteinases with characteristics of the ADAMTS family (78). Both these cleavages are much enhanced in OA cartilage (28). It is still unclear as to the relative contributions of different proteinases in aggrecan degradation since quantitative assays to measure both cleavage sites have not been used.

A deficiency of the tissue inhibitors of MMP (TIMPs) in OA (79, 80) clearly favours the excessive proteolysis that is observed in the diseased articular cartilage.

6. INFLAMMATION

There is no question that in established OA there is some synovitis (inflammation of the synovium) albeit much less than is ordinarily observed in diseases such as RA (81, 82). Thus it is more appropriate to speak of OA rather than osteoarthrosis when referring to established disease. Inflammation may be of earlier onset in post-traumatic OA in view of observations of early marked increases in metalloproteinases in synovial fluid, such as stromelysin-1 which are more likely to be derived mainly from activated synovial cells than cartilage. Synovial cells actively synthesize and secrete hyaluronic acid (HA, hyaluronan) as well as many other cells in the body. However, in studies of RA close direct correlations have been observed between serum HA and joint inflammation and diseases progression (joint damage) (83, 84). The latter has also been observed in OA for persistent elevation of serum HA where accelerated progression in joint damage has been reported (85). Moreover, HA levels correlate with knee joint space in OA (85, 86). Similarly, cartilage oligomeric protein which is synthesized by synovial cells and chondrocytes when expressed to TGFbeta (87), is increased in patients which exhibit accelerated large joint degeneration (88. 89). These associations suggest that joint inflammation may accelerate joint damage. This would likely result from local proinflammatory cytokine generation (see below).

C-reactive protein is also elevated in serum in patients with OA (90) as is eosinophil cationic protein and myeloperoxidase (A.R. Poole, M. Ionescu, unpublished). Together these changes provide evidence for a clearly definable systemic and local inflammatory component in OA. Recently, evidence for T cell immunity to the cartilage proteoglycan aggrecan and link protein has been reported. This is also observed in OA (91). T-cell immunity to type III collagen has previously been seen in experimental OA induced by partial meniscectomy (92).

7. CHANGES IN MOLECULAR MARKERS IN BODY FLUIDS REFLECT SKELETAL CHANGE AND INFLAMMATION

Cartilage degradation can now be detected using antibodies to the collagenase generated cleavage site in type II collagen. This is increased in joint fluids of rabbits and dog following section of the anterior cruciate ligament (A.R. Poole, C. Billinghurst et al., in preparation). Other assays to detect type II collagen degradation products involving the carboxy telopeptide-cross-link complex are also under development (D. Eyre and L. Atley, unpublished; I. Otterness, personal communication). Synthesis of type II procollagen can be detected by measurement of the c-propeptide of this molecule (43). The content is increased in OA synovial fluid and following traumatic injury that can lead to OA. However, serum c-propeptide content is decreased in idiopathic OA (43). In familial OA serum c-propeptide content is increased in most patients (93) reflecting the degeneration of the articular cartilage.

Proteoglycan degradation products bearing an antigenic KS epitope may be increased (94) or decreased (84) in serum in OA patients. An epitope (termed 846) present on the proteoglycan aggrecan, on some of the chondroitin sulfate chains of molecules, is released from cartilage and correlates with synthesis of aggrecan. This is markedly increased in content in OA synovial fluid (95, 96).

Progression of OA from knee joint pain to joint space narrowing is reflected by an increase in serum cartilage oligomeric protein (88, 89). Since this molecule is also secreted by synovial cells activated by TGFbeta (87, 88) it may also reflect a synovitis. Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan) has also been shown to be increased in serum in knee OA patients (97) particularly in those with more rapidly undergo joint degeneration (85). As in studies of patients with rheumatoid arthritis (83), this may signify a synovitis that accelerates cartilage damage since there is a correlation between serum HA and joint space (85, 86).

Increased bone turnover in OA is reflected by increases in the bone specific deoxypyridinoline cross links in urine (5). Serum osteocalcin (6) and bone sialoprotein (89) may also be increased.

These markers are proving useful in assessing disease progression and activity and response to therapy designed to control inflammation, arrest cartilage degradation and promote synthesis and tissue repair. They are being introduced into clinical trials to both investigate chondroprotection and determine whether they may be prognostic of longer term outcome of therapy. Such a careful double-blinded validation process is essential if their usefulness is to be clearly determined and critically assessed.

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Much progress has resulted from increased research in OA in recent years. The application of technical advances in analytical techniques to study cells and tissues has provided important new insights into the pathophysiology of OA and identified new therapeutic targets for intervention and regulation of this degenerative process.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author's work is funded by the Shriners Hospitals for Children, Medical Research Council of Canada, The Canadian Arthritis Network, The Riva Foundation and the National Institute of Aging, National Institutes of Health, USA.

10. REFERENCES

1. Felson, DT: Epidemiology of the rheumatic diseases. In: Arthritis and allied conditions: A Textbook of rheumatology. 13th Edition. Ed: W.J. Koopman, Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, (1997)

2.Ala-Kokko, L, Baldwin, CT, Moskowitz, RW & Prockop, DJ: Single base mutation in the type II procollagen gene (COL2A1) as a cause of primary osteoarthritis associated with a mild chondrodysplasia. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA* 87, 6565-8 (1990)

3.Dequeker, J, Mokassa, L, Aerssens, J, & Boonen, S: Bone density and local growth factors in generalized osteoarthritis. *Microscopy Res Tech* 37, 358-71 (1997)

4.Mansell, JP & Bailey, AJ: Abnormal cancellous bone collagen metabolism in osteoarthritis. *J Clin Invest* 101, 1596-1603 (1998)

5.Seibel, MJ, Duncan, A, &. Robins, SP: Urinary hydroxypyridinium cross-links provide indices of cartilage and bone involvement in arthritic disease. *J Rheumatol* 16, 964-70 (1989)

6.Campion, GV, Delmas, PD, & Dieppe, P: Serum and synovial fluid osteocalcin (bone GLA protein) levels in joint disease. *Br J Rheumatol* 28, 393-8 (1989)

7.McCarthy, C, Cushnaghan, J, & Dieppe, P: The predictive role of scintigraphy in radiographic osteoarthritis of the hand. *Osteoarthritis Cart* 2, 25-8 (1994)

8.Dieppe, P, Cushnaghan, J, Young, P, & Kirwan, J: Prediction of the progression of joint space narrowing in osteoarthritis of the knee by bone scintigraphy. *Ann Rheum Dis* 52, 557-563 (1993)

9.Hutton, CW, Higgs, ER, Jackson, PC, Watt, I, & Dieppe, PA: $^{99m}T_c$ HMDP bone scanning in generalized nodal osteoarthritis. II. The four hour bone scan image predicts radiographic change. *Ann Rheum Dis* 45, 622-6 (1986)

10.Westacott, CJ, Webb, GH., Warnock, MG, Sims, JV, & Elson, CJ: Alteration of cartilage metabolism by cells from osteoarthritic bone. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 1282-91 (1997)

11.Marcelli, C, Favier, F, Kotzki, PO, Ferrazi, V, Picot, MC, & Simon, L: The relationship between osteoarthritis of the hands, bone mineral density, and osteoporotic fractures in elderly women. *Osteoporosis Int* 5, 382-8 (1995)

12.Hart, DJ, Mootoosamy, I, Doyle, DV, & Spector, TC: The relationship between osteoarthritis and osteoporosis in the general population: the Chingford study. *Ann Rheum Dis* 53, 158-162 (1994)

13.Dequeker, J: Inverse relationship of interface between osteoporosis and osteoarthritis. *J Rheumatol* 24, 795-8 (1997)

14.O'Driscoll, SW, Recklies, AD, & Poole, AR: Chondrogenesis in perosteal explants. An organ culture model for *in vitro* study. *J Bone Jt Surg* 76A, 1042-1051 (1994)

15.Joyce, ME, Roberts, AB, Sporn, MI, & Bolander, ME: Transforming growth factor-beta and the initiation of chondrogenesis and osteogenesis in the rat femur. *J Cell Biol* 110, 2195-2207 (1990)

16.Van Beuningen, HM, Glansbeek, HL, van der Kraan, PM, & van den Berg, WB: Differential effects of local application of BMP-2 or TGF-beta 1 on both articular cartilage composition and osteophyte formation. *Osteoarthritis Cart* 6, 306-17 (1998)

17.Lohmander, LS, Lark, MW, Dahlberg, L, Walakovitz, LA, & Roos, H: Cartilage matrix metabolism in osteoarthritis: markers in synovial fluid, serum and urine. *Clin Biochem* 25, 167-174 (1992)

18.Blanco, FJ, Guitan, R, Vazquez-Martel, E, deToro, FJ, & Galdo, F: Osteoarthritis chondrocytes die by apoptosis. A possible pathway for osteoarthritis pathology. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 284-9 (1998)

19.Hashimoto, S, Ochs, RL, Komiya, S, & Lotz, M: Linkage of chondrocyte apoptosis and cartilage degradation in human osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 1632-8 (1998)

20.Poole, AR, Alini, M, & Hollander, AH: Cellular biology of cartilage degradation. In Mechanisms and models in rheumatoid arthritis. Eds.: Henderson, B, JCW Edwards, ER Pettipher. Academic Press, London, (1995)

21. Hollander, A.P., Heathfield, T.F., Webber, C., Iwata, Y., Bourne, R., Rorabeck, C., & Poole, A.R.: Increased damage to type II collagen in osteoarthritic articular cartilage detected by a new immunoassay. *J Clin Invest* 93, 1722-1732 (1994).

22.Hollander, AP, Pidoux, I, Reiner, A, Rorabeck, C, Bourne, R, & Poole, AR: Damage to type II collagen in ageing and osteoarthritis starts at the articular surface, originates around chondrocytes and extends into the cartilage with progressive degeneration. *J Clin Invest* 96, 2859-69 (1995)

23.Kempson, GE, Muir, H, Pollard, C, & Tuke, M: The tensile properties of the cartilage of human femoral

condyles related to the content of collagen and glycosaminoglycans. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 297, 465-472 (1973)

24.Kempson, GE: Age-related changes in the tensile properties of human articular cartilage: a comparative study between the femoral head of the hip joint and the talus of the ankle joint. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1075:223-230 (1991)

25.Guilak, F, Ratcliffe, A, Lane, N, Rosenwasser, MP, & Mow, VC: Mechanical and biochemical changes in the superficial zone of articular cartilage in canine experimental osteoarthritis. *J Orthop Res* 12, 474-484 (1994)

26.Poole, AR, Rosenberg, LC, Reiner, A, Ionescu, M, Bogoch, E, & Roughley, P: Contents and distributions of the proteoglycans decorin and biglycan in normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage. *J Orthop Res* 14, 681-9 (1996)

27.Billinghurst, RC, Dahlberg, L, Ionescu, M, Reiner, A, Bourne, R, Rorabeck, C, Mitchell, P, Hambor, J, Diekmann, O, Tschesche, H,Chen, J, Van Wart, H, & Poole, AR: Enhanced cleavage of type II collagen by collagenases in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 99, 1534-45 (1997)

28.Lark, MW, Bayner, EK, Flanagan, J, Harper, CF, Hoerrner, LA, Hutchinson, NI, Singer, II, Donatelli, SA, Weidner, HR, Williams, HR, Mumford, RA, & Lohmander, LS: Aggrecan degradation in human cartilage: evidence for both matrix metalloproteinase and aggrecanase activity in normal, osteoarthritic, and rheumatoid joints. *J Clin Invest* 100, 93-106 (1997)

29.Rizkalla, G, Reiner, A, Bogoch, E, & Poole, AR: Studies of the articular cartilage proteoglycan aggrecan in health and osteoarthritis: evidence for molecular heterogeneity and extensive molecular changes in disease. *J Clin Invest* 90, 2268-77 (1992)

30.Cs-Szabó, G., Roughley, P.J., Plaas, A.H.K., & Glant, T.T.: Large and small proteoglycans of osteoarthritic and rheumatoid articular cartilages. *Arthritis Rheum* 38, 660-8 (1995)

31.Poole, A.R.: Cartilage in health and disease. In: Arthritis and allied conditions. A Textbook of rheumatology, 13th edition. Ed: W.J. Koopman, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore (1997)

32.Shlopov, BV, Lie, W-R, Mainardi, CL, Cole, AA, Chubinskaya, S, & Hasty KA: Osteoarthritic lesions. Involvement of three different collagenases. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 2065-74 (1997)

33.Mitchell, PG, Magna, HA, Reeves, LM, Lopresti-Morrow, L, Yocum, SA, Rosner, PJ, Geoghegan, KF, & Hambor, JE: Cloning, expression, and type II collagenolytic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-13 from human osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 97, 761-8 (1996)

34.Reboul, P, Pelletier, J-P, Tardiff, G, Cloutier, J-M, & Martel Pelletier, J: The new collagenase, collagenase-3, is expressed and synthesized by human chondrocytes but not by synoviocytes. *J Clin Invest* 97, 2011-9 (1996)

35.Imai, K, Ohta, S, Matsumoto, T, Fujimoto, N, Sato, H, Seiki, M, & Okada, Y: Expression of membrane-type I matrix metalloproteinase and activation of progelatinase A in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *Am J Pathol* 151, 245-56 (1997)

36.Büttner, FH, Chubinskaya, S, Margerie, D, Huch, K, Flechtenmacher, J, Cole, AA, Kuettner, KE, & Bartnik, E: Expression of membrane type I matrix metalloproteinase in human articular cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 704-709 (1997)

37.Ohta, S, Imai, K, Yamashita, K, Matsumoto, T, Azumano, I, & Okada, Y: Expression of matrix metalloproteinase 7 (matrilysin) in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *Lab Invest* 78, 79-87 (1998)

38.Knäuper, VC Will, H, Lopez-Otin, C, Smith, B, Atkinson, SJ, Stanton, H, Hembry, RM, & Murphy, G: Cellular mechanisms for human procollagenase-3 (MMP-13) activation. Evidence that MT1-MMP (MMP-14) and gelatinase A (MMP-2) are able to generate active enzyme. *J Biol Chem* 271, 17124-17131 (1996)

39.Martel-Pelletier, J, Faure, M-P, McCollum, R, Mineau, F, Cloutier, J-M, & Pelletier, J-P: Plasmin, plasminogen activators and inhibitor in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Rheumatol* 18, 1863-71 (1991)

40.Baici, A, Hörler, D, Lang, A, Merlin, C, Kissling, R: Cathepsin B in osteoarthritis: zonal variation of enzyme activity in human femoral head cartilage. *Ann Rheum Dis* 54,281-8 (1995)

41.Mehraban, F., Tindal, M.H., Proffitt, M.M., & Moskowitz, R.W.: Temporal pattern of cysteine endopeptidase (cathepsin B) expression in cartilage and synovium from rabbit knees with experimental osteoarthritis: gene expression in chondrocytes in response to interleukin-1 and matrix depletion. *Ann Rheum Dis* 56, 108-15 (1997)

42.Buttle, D.J, Handley, C.J., Ilic, M.Z., Saklatvala, J., Murata, M., & Barrett, A.J.: Inhibition of cartilage proteoglycan release by a specific inactivator of cathepsin B and an inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases. Evidence for two converging pathways of chondrocyte-mediated proteoglycan degradation. *Arthritis Rheum* 36, 1709-17 (1993) 43.Nelson, F, Dahlberg, L, Reiner, A, Pidoux, I, Fraser, G, Brooks, E, Tanzer, M, Bogoch, E, Rosenberg, LC, & Poole, AR: The synthesis of type II procollagen is markedly increased in osteoarthritic cartilage *in vivo. J Clin Invest* 102, 2115-25 (1998).

44.Matyas, JR, Adams, ME, Huang, D, & Sandell, LJ: Major role of collagen IIB in the elevation of total type II procollagen messenger RNA in the hypertrophic phase of experimental osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 1046-49 (1997)

45.Lefkoe, TP, Nalin, M, Clark, JM, Reife, RA, Sugai, J, & Sandell, LJ: Gene expression of collagen types IIA and IX correlates with ultrastructural events in early osteoarthrosis: new applications of the rabbit meniscectomy model. *J Rheumatol* 24, 1155-63 (1997)

46.Sandell, LJ, Morris, N, Robbins, JR, & Goldring, MB: Alternatively spliced type II procollagen mRNAs define distinct populations of cells during vertebral development: differential expression of the amino-propeptide. *J Cell Biol* 114, 1307-19 (1991)

47.Aigner, T, Bertling, W, Stöss, H, Weseloh, G, & von der Mark, K: Independent expression of fibril-forming collagens I, II and III in chondrocytes of human osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 91, 829-37 (1993)

48.McDevitt, CA, Pahl, JA, Ayad, S, Miller, R, Uratsuji, M, & Andrish, JT: Experimental osteoarthritic articular cartiilage is enriched in guanidine-soluble type VI collagen. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 157, 250-55 (1988)

49.Ronzière, M-C, Ricard-Blum, S, Tiollier, J, Hartmann, DJ, Garrone, R, & Herbage, D: Comparative analysis of collagens solubilized from human fetal, normal and osteoarthritic adult articular cartilage, with emphasis on type VI collagen. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1038, 222-30 (1990)

50.Hambach, L, Neureiter, D, Zeiler, G, Kirchner, T, & Aigner, T: Severe disturbance of the distribution and expression of type VI collagen chains in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 986-96 (1998)

51.Carlson, CS, Loeser, RF, Johnstone, B, Tulli, HM, Dobson, DB, & Caterson, B: Osteoarthritis in cynomolgus macaques II. Detection of modulated proteoglycan epitopes in cartilage and synovial fluid. *J Orthop Research* 13, 399-409 (1995)

52.Visco, D, Johnstone, B, Hill, MA, Jolly, GA, & Caterson, B: Immunohistochemical analysis of 3-B-3(-) and 7-D-4 epitope expression in canine osteoarthritis. *Arthritis. Rheum* 12, 1718-25 (1993)

53.Cs-Szabó, G, Melching, LI, Roughley, PJ, & Glant, TT: Changes in messenger RNA and protein levels of proteoglycans and link protein in human osteoarthritic cartilage samples. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 1037-45 (1997) 54.Nishida, Y, Shinomura, T, Iwata, H, Miura, T, & Kimata, K: Abnormal occurrence of a large chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, PG-M/versican in osteoarthritic cartilage. *Osteoarthritis Cart* 2, 43-9 (1994)

55.Schneiderman, R, Rosenberg, N, Hiss, J, Lee, P, Liu, F, Hintz, RL, & Maroudas, A: Concentration and size distribution of insulin-like growth factor-1 in human normal and osteoarthritic synovial fluid and cartilage. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 324, 173-88 (1995)

56.DiCesare, PE, Carlson, CS, Stolerman, ES, Hauser, N, Tulli, H, & Paulson, M: Increased degradation and altered tissue distribution of cartilage oligomeric protein in human rheumatoid and osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Orthop Res* 14, 946-55 (1996)

57.Okimura, A, Okada, Y, Makihira, S, Pan, H, Yu, L, Tanne, K, Imai, K, Yamada, H, Kawamoto, T, Noshiro, M, Yan, W, & Kato, Y: Enhancement of cartilage matrix protein synthesis in arthritic cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum* 40, 1029-36 (1997)

58.Chevalier, X, Groult, N, Larget-Piet, B, Zardi, L, & Hornbeck, W: Tenascin distribution in articular cartilage from normal subjects and from patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 37, 1013-22 (1994)

59.Nakamura, S, Kamihagi, K, Satakeda, H, Katayama, M, Pan, H, Okamoto, H, Noshiro, H, Takahashi, K, Yoshihara, Y, Shimmei, M, Okada, Y, & Kato, Y: Enhancement of SPARC (osteonectin) synthesis in arthritic cartilage. Increased levels in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and regulation by growth factors and cytokines in chondrocyte cultures. *Arthritis Rheum* 39, 539-551 (1996)

60.Chevalier, X, Claudepierre, P, Groult, N, Zardi, L, & Hornbeck, W: Presence of ED-A containing fibronectin in human articular cartilage patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 23, 1022-30 (1996)

61.von der Mark, K, Kirsch, T, Nerlich, A, Kuss, A, Weseloh, G, Glückert, K, & Stöss H: Type X collagen synthesis in human osteoarthritic cartilage. Indication of chondrocyte hypertrophy. *Arthritis Rheum* 35, 806-11 (1992)

62.Mollenhauer, J, Mok, M.J, King, KB, Gupta, M, Chubinskaya, S, Koepp, H, & Cole, A.A: Expression of anchorin CII (cartilage annexin V) in human young, normal adult and osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Histochem Cytochem* 47, 1-12 (1999)

63.Terkeltaub, R, Lotz, M, Johnson, K, Deng, D, Hashamito, S, Goldring, MB, Burton, D, & Deftos, LJ: Parathyroid hormone-related protein is abundant in osteoarthritic cartilage and the parathyroid hormone-related protein 1-173 isoform is selectively induced by transforming growth factor β in articular chondrocytes and suppresses generation of extracellular inorganic pyrophosphate. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 2152-64 (1998)

64.Okano, K, Tsukazaki, T, Ohtsuru, A, Osaki, M, Yonekura, A, Iwasaki, K, & Yamashita, S: Expression of parathyroid hormone-related peptide in human osteoarthritis. *J Orthop Res* 15, 175-80 (1997)

65.Homandberg, GA, Meyers, R, & Xie, DL: Fibronectin fragments cause chondrolysis of bovine articular cartilage slices in culture. *J Biol Chem* 267, 3597-3604 (1992)

66.Werb, Z, Tremble, PM, Behrendtsen, O, Crowley, E, & Damsky, CH: Signal transduction through the fibronectin receptor induces collagenase and stromelysin gene expression. *J Cell Biol* 109, 877-89 (1989)

67.Arner, EC & Tortorella, MD.: Signal transduction through chondrocyte integrin receptors induces matrix metalloproteinase synthesis and synergizes with interleukin-1. *Arthritis Rheum* 38, 1304-14 (1995)

68.Martel-Pelletier, J, McCollum, R, DiBattista, J, Faure, M-P, Chin, JA, Fournier, S, Sarfati, M, & Pelletier, J-P: The interleukin-1 receptor in normal and osteoarthritic human articular chondrocytes: identification as the type I receptor and analysis of binding kinetics and biologic function. *Arthritis Rheum* 35, 530-40 (1991)

69. Melchiorri, C, Meliconi, R, Frizziero, L, Silvestri, T, Pulsatelli, L, Mazzetti, I, Borzi, R.M., Uguccioni, M & Facchini, A: Enhanced and co-ordinated *in vivo* expression of inflammatory cytokines and nitrix oxide synthase by chondrocytes from patients with osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 2165-74 (1998)

70.Webb, GR, Westacott, CI, & Elson, C.: Chondrocyte tumor necrosis factor receptors and focal loss of cartilage in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cart* 5, 427-37 (1997)

71.Cawston, TE, Curry, VA, Summers, CA, Clark, IM, Riley, GP, Life, PF, Spaull, R, Goldring, MB, Koshy, PJT, Rowan, AD, & Shingleton, WD: The role of oncostatin M in animal and human connective tissue collagen turnover and its localization within the rheumatoid joint. *Arthritis Rheum* 10, 1760-71 (1998)

72.Koch, A.E., Kunkel, S.L., Shah, M.R., Fu, R., Mazarakis, D.D., Haines, G.D., Burdick, M.D., Pope, R.M., & Strieter, R.M.: Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 _ a c-c chemokine in osteoarthritis. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 77, 307-14 (1995).

73.Amin, AR, DiCesare, PE, Vyas, P, Attur, M, Tzeng, E, Billiar, TR, Stuchin, SA, & Abramson, SB: The expression and regulation of nitric oxide synthase in human osteoarthritis affected chondrocytes: evidence for upregulated neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *J Exp Med* 182, 2097-2102 (1995)

74.Palmer, RMJ, Hickery, MS, Charles, IG, Moncada, S, & Bayliss, MT: Induction of nitric oxide synthase in human

chondrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 193, 398-405 (1993)

75.Taskiran, D, Stefanovic-Racic, M, Georgescu, H, & Evans, C: Nitric oxide mediates suppression of cartilage proteoglycan synthesis by interleukin-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 200, 142-8 (1996)

76.Stefanovic-Racic, M, Morales, TI, Taskiran, D, McIntyre, LA, & Evans, CH: The role of nitric oxide in proteoglycan turnover by bovine articular cartilage organ cultures. *J Immunol* 156, 1213-20 (1996)

77.Blanco, FJ, Ochs, RL, Schwarz, H, & Lotz, M: Chondrocyte apoptosis induced by nitric oxide. *Am J Pathol* 146, 75-85 (1995)

78.Tortorella, MD, Burn, TC, Pratta, MA, Abbaszade, I, Hollis, JM, Liu, R, Rosenfeld, SA, Copeland, RA, Decicco, CP, Wynn, R, Rockwell, A, Yang, F, Duke, JL, Solomon, K, George, H, Bruckner, R, Nagase, H, Itoh, Y, Ellis, DM, Ross, H, Wiswall, BH, Murphy, K, Hillman Jr, MC, Hollis, GF., Newton, RC, Magolda, RL, Trzaskos, JM, & Arner, EC: Purification and cloning of aggrecanase-1: a member of the ADAMTS family of proteins. *Science* 284, 1664-6 (1999)

79.Yamada, H, Nakagawa, T, Stephens, RW, Nagai, Y: Proteinases and their inhibitors in normal and osteoarthritic articular cartilage. *Biomed Res* 8, 289-300 (1987)

80.Dean, DD, Martel-Pelletier, J, Pelletier, J-P, Howell, DS, Woessner Jr, JF: Evidence for metalloproteinase and metalloproteinase inhibitor imbalance in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 84, 678-85 (1989)

81.Lindblad, S, & Hedfors, E: Arthroscopic and immunohistologic characterization of knee joint synovitis in osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 30, 1081-8 (1987)

82.Myers, SL, Brandt, KD, Ehrlich, JW, Braunstein, EM, Shelbourne, KD, Heck, DA, & Kalasinski, LA: Synovial inflammation in patients with early osteoarthritis of the knee. *J Rheumatol* 17, 1662-9 (1990)

83.Poole, AR & Dieppe, P: Biological markers in rheumamtoid arthritis. *Sem Arthritis Rheum* 23, 17-31 (1994)

84.Poole, AR: Skeletal and inflammation markers in aging and osteoarthritis. Implications for 'early' diagnosis and monitoring of the effects of therapy. In: Osteoarthritis and the ageing population. Ed: D. Hamerman, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore (1997)

85.Sharif, M., George, E., Shepstone, L., Knudson, W., Thonar, E. J.-M.A., Cushnaghan, J., & Dieppe, P.: Serum hyaluronic acid level as a predictor of disease progression in osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum 38, 760-7 (1995).

86.Sharma, L, Hurwitz, DE, Thonar, EJ-MA, Sum, JA, Lenz, ME, Dunlop, DD, Schnitzer, TJ, Kirwan-Mellis, G, & Andriacchi, T: Knee adduction moment, serum hyaluronan level, and disease severity in medial tibiofemoral osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 1233-40 (1998)

87.Recklies, AD, Baillargeon, L, & White, C: Regulation of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein synthesis in human synovial cells and articular chondrocytes. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 997-1006 (1998)

88.Sharif, M, Saxne, T, Shepstone, L, Kirwan, JR, Elson, CJ, Heinegård, D, & Dieppe, PA: Relationship between serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein levels and disease progression in osteoarthritis of the knee joint. *Br J Radiol* 34, 306-10 (1995)

89.Petersson, IF, Boegård, T, Svensson, B, Heinegård, D, & Saxne, T: Changes in cartilage and bone metabolism identified by serum markers in early osteoarthritis of the knee joints. *Br J Rheum* 37, 46-50 (1988)

90.Sharif, M, Elson, CJ, Dieppe, PA, & Kirwan, CJ: Elevated serum c-reactive protein levels in osteoarthritis. *Br J Rheumatol* 36, 140-1 (1997)

91.Guerassimov, A, Zhang, Y, Cartman, A, Rosenberg, LC, Esdaile, J, Fitzcharles, M-A, & Poole, AR: Immune responses to cartilage link protein and the G1 domain of proteoglycan aggrecan in patients with osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 42, 527-33 (1999)

92.Champion, BR, & Poole, AR: Immunity to homologous type III collagen after partial miniscectomy and sham surgery in rabbits. *Arthritis Rheum* 25, 274-87 (1982)

93.Bleasel, JF, Poole, AR, Heinegård, D, Saxne, T, Holderbaum, D, Ionescu, M, Jones, P, & Moskowitz, RW: Changes in serum cartilage marker levels indicate altered cartilage metabolism in families with the osteoarthritis-related type II colagen gene COL2A1-mutation. *Arthritis Rheum* 42, 39-45 (1999)

94.Thonar, EJ-MA, Lenz, ME, & Klintworth, GK: Quantitation of keratan sulfate in blood as marker of cartilage metabolism. *Arthritis Rheum* 28, 1367-76 (1985)

95. Poole, AR, Ionescu, M, Swan, A, & Dieppe, PA: Changes in cartilage metabolism in arthritis are reflected by altered serum and synovial fluid levels of the cartilage proteoglycan aggrecan. Implications for pathogenesis. *J Clin Invest* 94, 25-33 (1994)

96. Lohmander, LS, Ionescu, M, Jugessur, H, & Poole, AR: Changes in joint cartilage aggrecan metabolism after knee injury and in osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 42, 534-44 (1999)

97. Goldberg, RL, Huff, JP, Lenz, ME, Glickman, P, Katz, R, & Thonar, EJ-MA: Elevated plasma levels of hyaluronate in patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 34, 799-807 (1991)

Key words: Osteoarthritis, Cartilage, Bone,Inflammation, Cytokines, Proteinases, Degradation, Synthesis, Review

Send all correspondence to: Dr Robin Poole, Joint Diseases Laboratory, Shriners Hospitals for Children, 1529 Cedar Avenue, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3G 1A6, Tel: 514-849-6208, Fax: 514-849-9684, E-mail: rpoole@shriners.mcgill.ca

Received 8/24/99 Accepted 8/31/99